
DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM, AND SWANLEY HEALTH 
AND WELLBEING BOARD

Councillor Roger Gough (Chair) 

Councillor Ann Allen 
Councillor Tony Searles
Councillor David Turner

Debbie Stock 
Dr Elizabeth Lunt 

Sheri Green 
Graham Harris 

Anne Tidmarsh
Andrew Scott - Clark
Stuart Clark

Melanie Norris 
Sarah Kilkie

Lesley Bowles 

Cecilia Yardley

Kent County Council

Dartford Borough Council
Sevenoaks District Council
Gravesham Borough Council

DGS - CCG
DGS - CCG

Dartford Borough Council
Dartford Borough Council

Kent County Council
Kent County Council
Kent County Council

Gravesham Borough Council
Gravesham Borough Council

Sevenoaks District Council

Healthwatch

A meeting of the above Board will be held at 3.00pm on Wednesday 21 February 
2018 in the Kent Room at Gravesham Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Kent DA12 
1AU. 

If a member of the Board is unable to attend this meeting, apologies for absence can 
be submitted by calling 01322 343430 or by email to alan.twyman@dartford.gov.uk

A G E N D A 
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations Of Interest 

3. Minutes - 25 October 2017 (Pages 1 - 8)
The Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Gravesham and Swanley 
Health and Wellbeing Board held on 25 October 2017 are attached 
for confirmation.

Issues arising from the Minutes not addressed elsewhere on the 
Agenda can be raised at this item.



4. Kent County Council Health and Wellbeing Board (Pages 9 - 14)
The Chairman may wish to report on any issues of relevance to this 
Board arising from the meeting held on 22 November 2017.

The minutes for the meeting are attached as an aide memoire. 

5. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will report on any urgent item and determine its 
position on the Agenda.

6. Premier Education 

7. A New Vision of Health Management in Leisure Centres - Update 

8. Childhood Obesity - Update 

9. Update from Local Children's Partnership Groups (Pages 15 - 18)

10. Actions Outstanding from Previous Meetings and Forward Work Plan 
(Pages 19 - 22)

11. Proposed meeting Dates for 2018/2019 (Pages 23 - 24)

12. Information Exchange 



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Health and 
Wellbeing Board held on Wednesday 25 October 2017.

PRESENT:

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Councillor Roger Gough (Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen MBE
Councillor David Turner
Hayley Brooks
Sheri Green
Sarah Kilkie
Nick Moor
Melanie Norris
Teresa Olivier

John Horne (Sport England)
Kevin Day (KCC)
Elise Rendell (KCC)
Kevin McGeough (Ebbsfleet GCNT)
Lorna Hughes (Ebbsfleet GCHNT)
Dr M S Sahota

23. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Debbie Stock, Graham 
Harris, Tony Searles, Lesley Bowles and Jo Pennell.

24. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

25. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting of the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Health 
and Wellbeing Board held on 30 August 2017 were confirmed as a correct 
record. 

26. KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

The Chairman presented the minutes of the Kent County Council Health and 
Wellbeing Board held on 20 September 2017. He highlighted the discussion 
which had taken place at that meeting about the future role of the KCC Health 
and Wellbeing Board and the importance of establishing the right balance with 
the Sustainability and Transformation Plan. He reminded the Board that there 
had previously been little interest from Medway in establishing a Kent and 
Medway Health and Wellbeing Board but that Medway seemed to have 
shifted its position and a further paper would be submitted to the next KCC 
Health and Wellbeing Board about the potential for establishing a joint Health 
and Wellbeing Board with Medway. It had been decided that the KCC Board 



DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

WEDNESDAY 25 OCTOBER 2017

2

should continue in its current form for the present. The role of local Health and 
Wellbeing Board’s would be considered further down the line.

There had also been discussion about the NHS preparations for the winter 
and the Board had felt that generally the preparations for a possible flu 
outbreak was pretty inadequate. The meeting had also considered the 
Healthwatch Annual report and the renewal of the Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment.
   

27. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

28. DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM NHS TRUST:   STAKEHOLDER COUNCIL 

The Board had been invited to nominate a representative to sit on the new 
Stakeholder Council being established by the Dartford and Gravesham NHS 
Trust. It was agreed that Councillor David Turner would be nominated to 
serve on the Stakeholder Council and that the Trust would be advised of the 
appointment.

29. SPORT ENGLAND PRESENTATION 

The chairman welcomed John Horne from Sport England to the meeting.

Mr Horne gave a presentation on the vision, strategy and key objectives of 
Sport England and the projects that it would support. He informed the Board 
that the Government had shifted the emphasis of its support and as a result 
Sport England had moved away from focussing on elite sport and medal 
targets towards increasing participation in sport and making it accessible to 
people from every background on a sustainable basis. The Government’s 
overarching strategy was outcome driven and this was reflected in Sport 
England’s own Strategy, Towards an Active Nation which sought to improve 
physical wellbeing, mental wellbeing, individual development, social and 
community development and economic development with a new focus on 
customer needs. Sport England had also developed seven investment 
principles on which its funding decisions would be based; tackling inactivity, 
supporting children and young people, the mass market, the core market, 
volunteering, facilities and local delivery. Sport England’s vision was to enable 
all people regardless of age, background or ability to be able to engage in 
sport and physical activity and to encourage a sports sector which welcomes 
all people and caters for their needs.

Sport England’s key driver was tackling inactivity as this was felt to have the 
highest impact on its overarching outcomes. Sport England had devoted 25% 
of its resources towards tackling inactivity and had established a dedicated 
fund of £120m. 29% of the adult population did not take enough exercise to 
benefit their health and it was important to target the inactive and to 



DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

WEDNESDAY 25 OCTOBER 2017

3

encourage those who were underactive to intensify their activity to elevate it to 
the point where it could benefit their health. Mr Horne looked at the various 
investment opportunities available from Sport England and highlighted the 
funds available to older adults via the Active Ageing fund, the Tackling 
Inactivity and Economic Disadvantage fund, Children and Families fund and 
the Community Asset Fund.  He explained that some of these funds were 
heavily oversubscribed and that some very good bids had not been 
successful. Sports England was now the investor of last resort and projects 
should seek other funding streams before approaching Sport England. 
Successful bids would have to demonstrate the outcomes and be based on 
understanding the customer needs and to show how their intervention would 
remove barriers to activity and how it would promote activity and participation. 
Sport England had carried out a Sport Outcomes Evidence Review to help 
applicants for funding to help them understand and show others how sport 
and physical activity could contribute to the outcomes in the Government’s 
strategy and had designed an evaluation framework to evaluate the impact 
the impact of investments.

Sport England had also re-structured to reflect its new programmes and 
customer focus and as part of this was disbanding its regional teams to 
operate on a national level. The local County Sports Partnerships had 
therefore become an even more important interface with local sports delivery. 
Sports England was also now empowered to fund projects focussed on 
younger children from aged five upwards and would be devoting more energy 
to activities for children and young people.

Dr Sahota asked whether any of the projects Mr Horne had described had 
been GP-led as he felt that GP’s had a key role to play and that patients were 
more likely to follow a GP’s recommendation to become more active. He was 
also concerned that some projects might not capture data on the outcomes of 
interventions whereas GP’s would record the information and could assess 
progress.   Mr Horne pointed to a number of projects involving older people 
and the young where there had been involvement by CCG’s and highlighted a 
project in Swale. He stressed the importance of talking to and understanding 
potential customers, recognising barriers, the direction of travel and how this 
will be measured and the time, date and location for delivery that would best 
engage those customers and how a bid would address these issues. It was 
important to have clear objectives and a strong evidence base.

The Board also discussed the help that might be available to formulate bids 
and noted the heavy reliance of many sports clubs on volunteers, especially 
given pressures on local government funding and the shift of focus by Sports 
England away from supporting the core sports market towards themes such 
as dealing with inactivity. It was noted that many of Sport England’s funds 
were still available to support smaller projects and were open to bids from 
clubs and other organisations. Mr Horne was asked how an assessment could 
be made on the benefits to public health rather than just an increase in activity 
and pointed to the “Get Healthy, Get Active” initiative which generated some 
evidence of the longer term health benefits.  Some concern was expressed 



DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

WEDNESDAY 25 OCTOBER 2017

4

about the requirement to target interventions in order to bid for funding which 
meant that projects seeking to run lots of activities on a broad scale open to 
anyone might now not meet Sport England’s criteria for investment.

Mr Horne also confirmed that any club or organisation, a county or borough 
council could bid for funding but would have to demonstrate that their 
proposal would meet the needs of the targeted customers and Sport England 
was looking to broaden the base from which it received bids.

It was agreed that the Board needed to identify key outcomes and would ask 
public health colleagues to look at this in more detail before promoting bids, 
possibly with links to primary care. Although the Board could not generate 
bids for funding directly it could work at bringing suitable partners together to 
do so. It would also be important for Council’s to make the most of 
opportunities available through the County Sports Partnership.

The Chairman thanked Mr Horne for his presentation.

30. KCC SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY SERVICE: THE OVERARCHING 
ROLE OF THE COUNTY COUNCIL 

The Chairman welcomed Kevin Day and Elise Rendell from the Kent Sport 
and Physical Activity Service.

Mr Day explained the structure of the Service which was an integrated team 
of KCC officers and externally funded “County Sports Partnership” staff with a 
Kent and Medway Sports Board to provide governance and scrutiny. The 
service had a budget of £1.6m of which £1.17m was external funding, 
primarily from Sport England, and a further bid had been submitted for funding 
for 2018-2021. Operating as “Kent Sport” the Service had strong contacts with 
sports and leisure providers, and helped sports clubs and people to develop 
funding bids. 

County Sports Partnerships (CSP) had a new primary role and were 
effectively the eyes and ears for Sport England given its move towards a 
national focus rather than regional teams. The CSP know the place and the 
people and had been given the key theme of tackling inactivity and reaching 
out to under-represented groups. At present 25% of people in Kent were 
classed as inactive (less than 30 minutes activity per week) and the CSP was 
clear that it was not the expert in this area of work and behavioural change 
and it was therefore looking to develop new partnerships with health, housing, 
community safety, adult social care education and children’s services and the 
charity and voluntary sectors to deliver change.

Elise Rendell outlined local examples and opportunities such as Workplace 
Challenge, National Governing Bodies in Sport programmes targeting specific 
groups, services for older people and interaction with the Healthy Garden 
Town at Ebbsfleet.  There were also examples of support and advice given to 
local clubs and organisations through grants, support for funding applications, 



DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

WEDNESDAY 25 OCTOBER 2017

5

support and training for Club’s coaches and volunteers, promotion of activities 
and events using activity finder and social media, and campaigns linked to 
sport and physical activity. Funding had also been provided for 24 satellite 
clubs for 14-19 year olds and for the Kent School Games, there was also 
funding from the Department for Education Coaches and Volunteers 
programme and the CSP worked closely with local primary schools.

Mr Day concluded by explaining how the CSP could work more closely with 
Health and Wellbeing boards to develop networks and partnerships between 
respective sectors and partners, sharing expertise and links to target 
audiences. This could also involve sharing insight and appropriate data and 
collaborating on activities and the potential for joint bids/co-commissioning 
and accessing Sport England funding streams.

Mr Day confirmed that the CSP currently engaged with local councils 
including submitting an annual report on activity in each area and held a 
meeting with each district annually. Dr Sodha asked whether any of the 
projects with which the CSP was involved had any focus on good nutrition as 
it was important to link nutrition and activity and was told that there was a 
national initiative called “Fit and Fed”. Mr Day explained that all of the 
activities supported by the CSP could be accessed by using the “activity 
finder” on their web site.
The Chairman thanked Mr Day and Ms Rendell for their presentation and for 
answering the Board’s questions.  

31. EBBSFLEET GARDEN CITY HEALTHY NEW TOWN 

The Chairman welcomed Kevin McGeough and Lorna Hughes to the meeting 
to give a presentation on the progress of the Ebbsfleet Garden City Healthy 
New Town.

Mr McGeough introduced the Health New Town programme and explained 
that this was one of ten pioneer projects nationally and that the Ebbsfleet 
Garden City was the national lead for community building. The aims of the 
programme were:

 to shape new town, neighbourhoods and communities to promote 
health and wellbeing, prevent illness and keep people independent

 to radically rethink delivery of health and care services in areas free 
from legacy constraints, supporting learning about new models of 
integrated care; and

 to spread learning and good practice to other local areas and other 
national programmes.

The programme was a partnership project which recognised that investment 
upfront had a greater impact in delivering effective outcomes. It also 
recognised that the Garden City was being developed in the midst of existing 
communities and it was important that these communities also benefited from 



DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

WEDNESDAY 25 OCTOBER 2017

6

the programme as well as the new communities. The starting point had been 
to develop a quality of life baseline which identified characteristics of the area 
and where it was better or worse than the national average. One important 
finding had been that as a brownfield development the Garden City was 74% 
worse than the national average in terms of greenspace and part of the vision 
for the Garden City was to open up green space to create a great 
environment.

Five outcomes had been identified for the Ebbsfleet Garden City Health New 
Town programme:

 Patients in control
 Vibrant and inclusive city
 A better quality of life
 Accessible blue, green and physical environment; and
 Living in your home for longer.

It was important to put people in control and provide opportunities and things 
for people to do. The early New Towns had failed in this respect and had 
been seen as soulless and depressing. The programme aimed to improve 
quality of life by 10% by targeting those factors where the area was below the 
national average and by promoting accessibility. There were 3 delivery 
themes with 7 key outputs:

 Built environment
o An exemplar built environment which supports independent 

living at home for longer
o Securing access to an active and safe green environment

 Health and Care
o Delivering a new model of care for service delivery
o Establishing a world class new Medical Centre of Excellence
o A community-led radical upgrade to prevention, self care and 

public health
 Community Building

o Establishing a range of new community facilities managed by 
local people; and

o Improving Quality of Life Outcomes for everyone.

These were designed to break down barriers, open up the environment and 
exploit new technologies to deliver world class services which were 
sustainable. 

The governance arrangements for the programme were described including 
links with key partners including KCC, the EDC and DGSCCG Executive 
Boards and the Health and Wellbeing Board but the project involved many 
more partners. One key aspect of the programme was the initiative to develop 
a Health, Education and Innovation Quarter (HEiQ) in Ebbsfleet so that the 
Garden City would be a Centre of Excellence for medical education, living 



DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

WEDNESDAY 25 OCTOBER 2017

7

research, innovation and primary and social care delivery.  To achieve this it 
had been necessary to establish key attributes of a healthy city. Some of the 
initiatives to support this were outlined. It had been established that 28% of 
people in Ebbsflett do not eat 5 portions of fruit and vegetables per day and 
from this finding the concept of “edible Ebbsfleet” developed to make fruit and 
vegetables freely available on the streets. A digital monitoring programme had 
been developed with over 120 participants using “fitbits” and GPS to monitor 
their physical activity and track their movements which would inform decisions 
about where people wished to go and exercise and what facilities they might 
need. This also encouraged the new and old communities to interact and 
promoted community cohesion as did initiatives such “back to the country” 
which encouraged walks into hidden parts of the country. The project was 
also seeking to obtain a kite mark to provide clear focus for developers and 
the EDC as to what they were looking to provide and as a way of assessing 
the quality and appropriateness of development and to provide customers 
with confidence that these standards would be maintained.

In response to questions Mr McGeough explained that although the Healthy 
New Town project was seed-funded by the EDC most of the funding came 
through partners involved in the project. He confirmed that the project would 
be rolled-out across the whole of Ebbsfleet and Northfleet and to the older 
communities as well as the Garden City. 

The Board thanked Mr McGeough and Ms Hughes for the presentation and 
commended the vision and actions being taken to develop a Healthy New 
Town. The action to involve key partners in the development of the project 
upfront meant that the needs of the community would drive the eventual 
shape of the development and there were exciting opportunities for public 
health colleagues to get involved. Dr Sodha said that there were opportunities 
for “easy wins” such as ensuring that every school had an allotment and that 
all schools participated in the “daily mile”. It was confirmed that the project 
team  was already heavily engaged with local schools and was developing the 
content for this aspect of the programme.         

32. ACTIONS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS BOARD MEETINGS AND 
THE FORWARD WORK PLAN. 

The Chairman confirmed that the action on T Hall to assume chairmanship of 
the Obesity Task and Finish Working Group and to arrange further meetings 
had been delayed because of work with Local Children’s Partnership Groups 
and should be rolled forward. However discussions with officers to establish 
the Working Group were in hand. The remaining actions listed in the report 
had been completed.  

Sheri Green informed the Board that she had been contacted by the Premier 
Education Group who were already working with c.80 schools across Kent to 
promote health and wellbeing and that they were keen to work with the Board. 
Although the Group was a private company their services were paid for by the 
schools directly from their own funding streams such as through the pupil 



DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

WEDNESDAY 25 OCTOBER 2017

8

premium. It was agreed to invite the Group to attend the Health and Wellbeing 
Board’s meeting in February 2018.

It was also agreed that the Board should receive an update on the School 
Nursing Service at its next meeting on 20 December.

33. INFORMATION EXCHANGE 

The Board was informed about a seminar taking place on 20th November by  
the MHA and Creative Dementia Arts Network about using arts and music to 
support people with dementia. It was agreed to circulate details to the Board 
following the meeting.

The Board was reminded that the new Healthwatch help cards discussed at 
the previous meeting were now available from medical practices to assist 
patients. 

The meeting ended at 5.25pm.



1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MINUTES of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held in the Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 22 November 2017.

PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford (Chairman), Dr B Bowes (Vice-Chairman), 
Cllr S Aldridge, Dr F Armstrong, Mr I Ayres, Mr P B Carter, CBE, Dr S Chaudhuri, 
Ms P Davies, Mr I Duffy, Dr A Duggal (Substitute for Mr A Scott-Clark), Dr S Dunn, 
Mr G K Gibbens, Mr R W Gough, Mr S Inett, Dr N Kumta, Mr S Perks, Ms A Singh, 
Ms H Smith and Dr R Stewart

ALSO PRESENT:  Cllr Alan Jarrett and Mr Neil Davies 

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs L Whitaker (Democratic Services Manager (Executive))

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

309. Chairman's Welcome 
(Item 1)

(1) The Chairman welcomed Cllr Alan Jarrett and Mr Neil Davies from Medway 
Council and Glen Douglas (Chief Executive of the Sustainable Transformation 
Partnership) to the meeting.

(2) He invited Cllr Jarrett and Mr Davies to comment on the proposal to develop 
joint health and wellbeing arrangements.  Mr Jarrett said he supported the 
proposals in principle.  He referred to the proposed membership, as set out in 
paragraph 3.2 of the report, and said he strongly supported the inclusion of 
representatives from district councils with a minimum of observer status.  He 
also said the Medway Health and Wellbeing Board would continue to operate, 
the terms of reference of the joint board were key to its success and should be 
written in a way that ensured any joint board did not acquire executive 
functions. 

(3) Mr Davies said a joint board would facilitate working with the STP.

310. Apologies and Substitutes 
(Item 2)

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr F Gooch, Dr S MacDermott, Dr T 
Martin and Mr A Scott-Clark.  Alison Duggal attended as substitute for Mr Scott-Clark. 

311. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the agenda for this 
meeting 
(Item 3)

There were no declarations of interest. 



2

312. Minutes of the Meeting held on 20 September 2017 
(Item 4)

Resolved that the minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2017 are correctly 
recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman. 

313. Update on the STP and its links with the HWB - Presentation by Glenn 
Douglas - Chief Executive of Kent and Medway STP 
(Item 5)

(1) Mr Douglas gave a presentation which is available on-line at Appendix 1 to 
these minutes.

(2) Comments were made about the need to consider patient involvement and 
engagement in the new arrangements; the role of the HWB in having a 
strategic overview of the arrangements for and the delivery of local care; the 
reduction in investment in primary care as a proportion of the total NHS spent; 
the tension between central control and local autonomy particularly in relation 
to local care; and the relationship between the Case for Change and the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment. 

(3) Concerns were also raised that social care funding might be used to support 
the acute sector and that Better Care Funding might be withdrawn.

(4) Dr Stewart said the Kent and Medway Integration Pioneer was a working 
group of the Health and Wellbeing Board and had developed into the Design 
and Learning Centre for Clinical and Social Innovation (DLC).  The DLC was 
now recognised as the Service Improvement and Innovation facility for the 
Kent and Medway STP in collaboration with Medway and Swale Centre of 
Organisational Excellence and the Academic Health Science Network.

(5) Resolved that the presentation be noted. 

314. Discussion paper: Health and Wellbeing Board - proposal to move to a 
joint board with Medway Council 
(Item 6)

(1) David Whittle (Director of Strategy, Policy, Relationships and Corporate 
Assurance) introduced the report which provided the foundation for further 
discussion to support the Board in coming to an in-principle agreement to 
develop a joint arrangement.  He referred to Cllr Jarrett’s comments at the 
beginning of the meeting in support of such an arrangement and said that if it 
was the wish of the Board, terms of reference and other technical matters 
could be developed by officers.

(2) Comments were made about the relationship of a joint board with local care 
providers and integrated commissioning as well as the opportunity to learn 
from Medway’s experiences in local care commissioning.

(3) In response to questions and comments, Mr Whittle confirmed that the 
intention was to have representatives from the Strategic Commissioner 
function and a representative from each Accountable Care Partnership (ACP). 



3

(4) Comments were also made about the importance of arrangements for children 
and the 0-25 Health and Wellbeing Board in any new arrangements.

(5) Resolved that: 

(a) It be agreed to recommend to County Council the creation of a Joint 
Board with Medway Council dependent on agreement from Medway 
Council, and further discussions with STP Leadership;

b) The joint Board would focus on the Kent and Medway STP;

c) Membership might include future representation from the strategic 
commissioner function and ACPs as new structures developed;

d) Responsibility for agreeing Terms of Reference for the joint Board with 
Medway Council and STP Leadership be delegated to the Chairman.

315. Kent and Medway Growth and Infrastructure Framework - 2017 Update 
(Item 7)

(1) Katie Stewart (Director of Environment., Planning and Enforcement) 
introduced the report which provided an overview of the emerging Kent and 
Medway Growth and Infrastructure Framework (GIF) and asked the Board to 
make recommendations on the emerging headline messages and 
infrastructure costings for the update of the GIF. 

(2) Sarah Platts (Strategic Planning Infrastructure Manager) outlined the approach 
taken to developing the GIF including engagement with the STP, the emerging 
narrative and costings.  The analysis showed a significant gap between the 
funding required and the anticipated contributions from central government, 
developer contributions and other sources.

(3) Comments were made about the need to use the same language as being 
used in the STP; to avoid any implication that primary care practices might be 
forced into larger buildings; and to move away from the idea that the proposed 
hubs were physical buildings when it might be the way that services would 
beaggregated virtually to deliver services to populations of 40,000-50,000. 

(4) Comments were also made about the desirability of following other authorities 
who were considering radical ways of raising funds for infrastructure delivery; 
and the need to lobby government for adequate funding to meet current and 
future growth forecasts.

(5) Resolved that the report be noted. 

316. NHS Preparations for and Response to Winter in Kent 2017/18 
(Item 8)

(1) The Chairman welcomed Mr Duffy to the meeting.  Mr Duffy said that planning 
for winter 2017/18 had started towards the end of last winter.  Two debriefs 
had been held which had led to further work in relation to demand and 



4

capacity. Local A&E Delivery Board (LAEDB) plans for winter across Kent and 
Medway, had been assured as “Amber”, however the plans continued to be 
developed, refined and tested with support from NHSE/NHSI.  NHSE were 
also working with LAEDBs to produce a Kent and Medway Surge Plan in order 
to strengthen mutual aid agreements. He also said that each LAEDB would 
conduct a Surge Capacity Exercise ahead of winter.

(2) Mr Duffy also said that all LAEDBs were promoting the nationally led “Stay 
Well this Winter Campaign” which was aimed at asking the public to protect 
themselves from the cold and included encouragement to be vaccinated 
against the flu. 

(3) Mr Duffy thanked the Health and Wellbeing Board for its continued support 
and said the Health and Wellbeing Board needed to retain good oversight of 
funds and to continue to work to deliver the required reductions in the delayed 
transfers of care which were key to providing capacity in the acute sector.  He 
concluded by saying robust plans were in place to manage this year’s winter 
pressures, a strong national communications plan was being supported and 
delivered locally, and LAEDBs had well-rehearsed plans to manage the impact 
of emergencies.

(4) Comments were made about the plans in place in East Kent to respond to 
winter, the opportunity to further exploit information systems to help with the 
escalation process, the capacity of primary care to assist in  extreme 
emergencies, the role of the out-of-hours GP service.  Further comments were 
made about the fact that during times of pressure, it tended to be across the 
whole system including both primary and acute care, as more people were 
sick, they also tended to be sicker and to stay in hospital for longer; and there 
was a limited number of staff with the appropriate skills who could be called 
upon to respond to increased demand. 

(5) Resolved that the report be noted. 

317. Kent Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 
(Item 9)

(1) Members of the Board expressed surprise that a representative of the Kent 
Safeguarding Children Board was not in attendance to present the report.  Mr 
Ireland suggested a report providing an update on the recommendations made 
by Ofsted be received at a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
He also outlined some of the potential changes to arrangements for 
safeguarding children arising from the Health and Social Care Act.

(2) Resolved that the Chairman of the Kent Safeguarding Children Board be 
asked to attend the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board in January 
2018 to present an update on actions since the Ofsted inspection and potential 
changes to arrangements for safeguarding children arising from the Health 
and Social Care Act.

318. 0-25 Health and Wellbeing Board 
(Item 10)



5

Resolved that the minutes of the meeting held on 19 July 2017 be noted. 

319. Minutes of the Local Health and Wellbeing Boards 
(Item 11)

Resolved that the minutes of the local health and wellbeing boards be noted as 
follows: 

Ashford - 18 October 2017
Canterbury and Coastal – 5 October 2017
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley – 25 October 2017 
South Kent Coast – 16 May 2017
Thanet – 7 September 2017
West Kent – 15 August 2017 and 17 October 2017

320. Date of Next Meeting 24 January 2018 
(Item 12)

(1) Mr Oakford said that this was Andrew Ireland’s last meeting and thanked him 
for his contribution to the organisation and for his personal support and 
patience.  He also wished him well for the future. 

(2) Resolved that from April 2018 the meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
be held during the working day. 

 





Local Children’s Partnership Group Update for the DGS Health and Wellbeing Board

21st February 2018

Nick Moor

Head of Service (North), Early Help, Kent County Council



Gravesham Local Children’s Partnership Group Update

Health and Wellbeing Board

February 2018

1. Background:  The multi-agency Local Children’s Partnership Group (LCPG) meets bi-monthly to discuss 
priorities for the District and issues affecting children and their families.  

2. Priorities:  for the coming year agreed by the LCPG are:
a. Whole family projects that will sustainably reduce excess weight levels of Yr6 children in Gravesham
b. Projects focusing on Early Years to promote school readiness for pre-school children in Gravesham
c. Projects aimed at supporting families of primary school age children improve and sustain regular 

school attendance
d. Project to raise awareness and enable routes of support for victims of domestic abuse in Gravesham

3. Childhood Obesity:
a. An Obesity subgroup has been formed by the LCPG. The subgroup is well attended and is mapping 

service provision, identifying gaps and establishes roles of key partners to improve collaborative 
working. 

4. Persistent School Absence Primary and School Readiness
a. The LCPG links with the County Attendance Task and Finish Group to look at ways to raise 

attendance across the District.  As of January 2018, approximately 55% of children in Early Help had 
below 90% school attendance across the troubled families cohort. There was a historic North 
Attendance Group to look at attendance specifically in Dartford, Gravesham and Sevenoaks and this 
is being reformed given the poor attendance rates in the North.

b. A County Task and Finish Group was established to develop guidance, attendance pathway and staff 
training to support staff working with poor attendance cases, which will be implemented in early 
2018. This group has now been disbanded. 

c. Funding from the Troubled Families Grant allocation for 2017/18 has been used to employ an 
additional worker to support attendance.  Work includes direct work with parents and children, 
liaison with school staff and other agencies to secure the right support for individual children and a 
transition project from years 6 to 7.  Changes to the funding stream will no longer enable the group 
to fund this post.  

d. A project is being developed, working with two primary schools and 2 or 3 nurseries to identify 
triggers to poor attendance / attainment, with the intention of developing a risk model. 

5. Domestic Abuse
a. Choices Domestic Abuse Service has been successfully delivering their ‘Loves Me, Loves Me Not’ 

Programme. Overall aims of programme: Challenge attitudes and beliefs that conceal and condone 
domestic abuse, raise awareness of the misuse of power within relationships and help to identify 
control tactics, identify early warning signs of controlling behaviours and give students the 
knowledge of healthy relationship skills.

6. Early Help Grant Funding 2017/18: 
a. Early Help Funding – current providers are The Gr@nd, Challenger Group and Bore Place who have a 

collaborative programme focusing on healthy weight.  The six monthly review shows that they are 
working well and that the connection with the Gr@nd has been a benefit.

7. Grant Funding 2018/19:
a. The Early Help and Troubled Families Grant have been combined and bids have been invited from 

local organisations to support the district priorities.  Interviews with shortlisted providers took place 
on 1st February 2018.

b. Troubled Families Programme update: the district is currently at 86.4% of its target number of 
families achieving ‘significant and sustained’ year to date. 



SEVENOAKS LOCAL CHILDREN’S PARTNERSHIP GROUP

REPORT FOR HEALTH AND WELL BEING BOARD

FEBRUARY 2018

1. New Chair:  Jacqui Davis, Manager, Young Addaction has been appointed by the LCPG to chair the group 
from 1 January 2018.  The group meetings quarterly to discuss priorities for the District and issues affecting 
children and their families.  The first meeting of 2018 will be held on 14th March in Swanley.

2. Priorities:  for the coming year agreed by the LCPG are:
a. Mental Health and Self-Harm
b. Excess Weight and Childhood Obesity
c. Persistent Absence at Secondary School

3. Mental Health and Self-Harm: A new Mental Health sub-group, Chaired by Gill Roberts of WK Mind has 
been set up under the LSP to look at Mental Health for Sevenoaks.  An action plan had been developed and 
the sub-group is also looking at adults issues as these affect children in the family.    They are also working 
with the Darenth Valley Partnership Scheme to identify funding for partnership projects to support families.

4. Excess Weight and Childhood Obesity: The LCPG links with the newly established Health Action Team which 
looks at adults and children with a broad range of issues.  A mapping workshop has been held to look at 
services to tackle obesity and weight issues in pre-reception and reception age children. 

a. Persistent Absence at Secondary School:   As of January 2018 55% of children in Early Help in the 
North District had below 90% school attendance.  There was a historic North Attendance Group to 
look at attendance specifically in Dartford, Gravesham and Sevenoaks and this is being reformed 
given the poor attendance rates in the area.

b. The County Task and Finish Group has developed guidance, an attendance pathway and staff 
training to support staff working with poor attendance cases.  

c. Grant funding has been used to appoint a family intervention worker through Project Salus to work 
with families with a long history of persistent absence.

5. Grant Funding 2017/18: 
a. Early Help Funding – three projects are underway to deliver initiatives to promote healthy weight, 

strengthen parenting and build resilience through mentoring young people with persistent absence.  
Providers are Bore Place, Fegans and Project Salus. 

b. Troubled Families Grant – as well as appointing a family intervention worker through Project Salus 
(4c above), funding has also been used to commission two days of the Hero Project which supports 
families with debt and housing issues.

6. Grant Funding 2018/19:
a. The Early Help and Troubled Families Grant have been combined and bids have been invited from 

local organisations to support the District priorities.  Interviews with shortlisted providers took place 
on 5th February.

7. Troubled Families Programme update: the district exceeded its claim target for 2016/17 in terms of number 
of families achieving ‘significant and sustained’ change and is on track to achieve its target for 2017/18.



DARTFORD CHILDREN’S & YOUNG PEOPLE’S BOARD

REPORT FOR HEALTH AND WELL BEING BOARD

FEBRUARY 2018

1. Background:  The group meetings bi-monthly to discuss priorities for the District and issues affecting 
children and their families.  The first meeting of 2018 was held on 11th January.

2. Priorities:  for the coming year agreed by the CYPB are:
a. Childhood Obesity
b. Persistent School Absence (Primary)

3. Childhood Obesity:
a. The Dartford Obesity Pathway Group (sub-group of the CYPB) is mapping service provision, 

identifying gaps and establish roles of key partners to improve collaborative working. 
b. The Dartford NCMP operational group is undertaking initiatives to promote healthy weight and 

encourage physical activities.  This includes the Dynamo club – a family weight management 
programme and ‘Don’t sit, Get Fit’, a programme to promote both fitness and nutrition in primary 
schools.  There have been difficulties in getting families to engage with the Dynamo Programme and 
more referrals are needed from GPs and school nursing.  The NCMP programme is screening for 
weight, hearing and vision of reception children with follow up phone calls to parents.  

4. Persistent School Absence (Primary)
a. The CYPB linked with the County Attendance Task and Finish Group to look at ways to raise 

attendance across the District.  As of January 2018 55% of children in Early Help in the North District 
had below 90% school attendance.  There was a historic North Attendance Group to look at 
attendance specifically in Dartford, Gravesham and Sevenoaks and this is being reformed given the 
poor attendance rates in the North.

b. The County Task and Finish Group has developed guidance, attendance pathway and staff training to 
support staff working with poor attendance cases.   

c. Funding from the Troubled Families allocation has been used to employ an additional worker to 
support attendance.  Work includes one to ones with parents and children, liaison with school staff 
and other agencies to secure the right support for individual children and a transition project from 
years 6 to 7.  Changes to the funding stream will no longer enable the group to fund this post.  

d. A joint action research project is being developed by DASCO and KCC, working with twelve primary 
schools to improve attendance.   Data has been collected by the schools on identified students and 
actions recorded.  A meeting between DASCO representatives and Management Information is due 
to take place on 1 March to discuss next steps.  

5. Early Help Grant Funding 2017/18: 
a. Early Help Funding – four projects are underway to deliver initiatives to promote healthy 

weight/healthy living, strengthen parenting and develop resilience in Dartford secondary 
schools.Providers are CXK, Fegans, Healthy Living Centre and Imago. 

b. Troubled Families Grant – in addition to the attendance worker, the CYPB has used this funding to 
appoint a family support worker and a family group worker to support families and young people 
through Early Help.

6. Grant Funding 2018/19:
a. The Early Help and Troubled Families Grant has been combined and bids have been invited from 

local organisations to support the District priorities.  Interviews with shortlisted providers took place 
on 1st February.

7. Troubled Families Programme update: the district reached 55% of its target number of families achieving 
‘significant and sustained’ change for the year to date. 



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

21 FEBRUARY 2018
 

______________________________________________________________________________

1

From: Executive Group (Member Services) 

Subject: Action Points Arising From Previous Meeting(s) of the DGS HWB and 
Forward Work Plan

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary:
The report details progress against action points arising from the previous meeting(s) and 
proposes the Board’s forward work plan.

Recommendations

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

1) Note the action points arising from previous meeting(s) and subsequent action, 
and consider whether any item should be added to the forward work plan to enable 
a more detailed discussion at a future meeting.

2) Consider and approve the forward work plan, subject to any amendments or 
additions that the Board wishes to make. 

1. Background and discussion

1.1 It is often the case that during discussion on an item, the Board will record its wish 
that something or other is done. It is important that the Board maintains a focus on 
these actions until they are discharged to ensure that the Board’s agenda is 
progressed. 

1.2 Current actions arising are as follows:-

Meeting 
first 
raised

Minute/Item Action taken/to be taken Lead

12/4/2017 Min 52 – 
Minutes 
(Obesity Task 
and Finish 
WG)

T.Hall to assume chairmanship, engage 
wider partners and organise further 
meetings.  Local Children’s Partnership 
Group’s, have now established working 
groups and a report detailing progress is 
on this Agenda.  Action completed.

T.Hall (PH)

28/6/2017 Min 12 – 
Actions 
outstanding 

The Chairman to pursue the matter of the 
establishment of the Obesity Working 

Chairman



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

21 FEBRUARY 2018
 

______________________________________________________________________________

2

from previous 
meetings of 
the DGSHWB 
and Forward 
Work Plan

Group with the relevant Officers (above 
action re. Min 52 refers) Action completed.

1.3 The Board’s work plan schedules regular update reports, for example from the Local 
Children’s Partnership Groups (previously Children’s Operational Groups) and Health 
Inequalities Groups, as well as giving advance notice of items which the Board has 
indicated that it wishes to consider (including those identified through actions arising), 
or that the Kent Board has asked it to consider.

1.4 The work plan does not preclude matters not on the work plan being submitted to any 
meeting of the Board with the agreement of the Chairman.

1.5 The Board has an opportunity at each meeting to consider its work plan and add 
items, particularly key plans and strategies, when the timing of such is known.  

2 Conclusion and Recommendations
The Board is asked to:

Note the action points arising from previous meeting(s) and subsequent action, 
consider whether any additional item should be added to the forward work plan to 
enable a more detailed discussion at a future meeting, or any other action taken and 
agree the work plan at Appendix A.

3 Contact details

  Neil Murphy, Committee Coordinator, Dartford Borough Council
  email: neil.murphy @dartford.gov.uk

4. Background Papers – None



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

21 FEBRUARY 2018
 

______________________________________________________________________________

3

APPENDIX A
 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley HWB Forward Work Plan

Meeting Topic Suggested Lead

21 February 2018 Update from MD Gravesham Community 
Leisure

Rob Swain

Premier Education Ian Gray
Childhood Obesity Update Val Miller
Update from Local Children’s Partnership 
Groups

Nick Moor

11 April 2018 Update re. Headstart project Catherine Read 
Presentation by CEO of Cyclopark, 
Gravesham

Alex Flint

School Nursing Linda Starkie

ITEMS TO BE SCHEDULED

Employability & Health – GP Education
New District Health Deal - Board to receive update on plans for North Kent ‘district deal’ 
once discussions further advanced
Falls Prevention – Board to receive further report – Allison Duggal
Annual report from the HIGs - districts





DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

21 FEBRUARY 2018

______________________________________________________________________________

1

From: Clerk to the Board 

Subject: DGS Health and Wellbeing Board Draft Schedule of Meetings 
2018/2019

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary:
This report sets out a draft programme of meetings for the Board in 2018/ 2019.

Recommendations

Members are asked to consider the programme and agree the schedule of meeting dates 
for 2018/2019.

1. Background and discussion

1.1The Board currently meets on a bi monthly basis roughly half way between the 
meetings of the Kent HWB.  The proposed schedule attempts to replicate this pattern.

1.2This report sets out in Appendix A a proposed schedule of meetings for 2018/19 and 
asks Members to agree consider the programme for the next Municipal Year.

1.3 Members may wish to consider the necessity for a meeting to be arranged in August 
due to the difficulty that this poses for Member attendance.

2 Contact details

Neil Murphy Clerk to the Board, Dartford Borough Council, 
email:neil.murphy@dartford.gov.uk

3. Background Papers - None



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

21 FEBRUARY 2018

______________________________________________________________________________

2

APPENDIX A

KCC HWB Dates Proposed  DGS HWB  
Dates

2018 May 
23

June 06  
June 

12

August 01
Sept 19

Oct 3
Nov 21

Dec 5
2019   Jan 

23

Feb  20
Mar 27

Apr  10


	Agenda
	3 Minutes - 25 October 2017
	Minutes

	4 Kent County Council Health and Wellbeing Board
	9 Update from Local Children's Partnership Groups
	10 Actions Outstanding from Previous Meetings and Forward Work Plan
	11 Proposed meeting Dates for 2018/2019

